

# BEHIND THE EU SCENES

# SHAPING LISBON'S LEGACY: THE EU'S VERY DISCREET DEBATE ON WHO WILL MAKE FOREIGN POLICY

**Kirsty Hughes** 

June 2008

The views expressed in this publication are the views of the author and are not necessarily the views of *Friends of Europe*'s Board of Trustees, members or partners.

Reproduction in whole or in part is permitted, provided that full credit is given to *Friends of Europe*, and provided that any such reproduction, whether in whole or in part, is not sold unless incorporated in other works.

Author: Kirsty Hughes

Publisher: Geert Cami

**Editor: Giles Merritt** 

Project Director: Nathalie Furrer

Design & Layout: Ben Yielding

## Friends of Europe – Les Amis de l'Europe

Bibliothèque Solvay • Parc Léopold • Rue Belliard 137 • 1040 Brussels

Tel.: +32 (0)2 737 91 45 • Fax: +32 (0)2 738 75 97

Email: info@friendsofeurope.org • Website: www.friendsofeurope.org

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

About the author 4
About Friends of Europe – Les Amis de l'Europe5
Shaping Lisbon's Legacy: The EU's very discreet debate on who will make foreign policy
Introduction7
1. Processes, Timing and Players10
2. Choosing the EU's Three New Faces – and Their Roles
New Faces
Coherent or Competing Roles?14
3. The European External Action Service (EEAS)
Size and Scope of the EEAS
Staffing23
4. The New Foreign Affairs and General Affairs Councils
Conclusion
Friends of Europe's Board of Trustees

# ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Kirsty Hughes is a writer, policy analyst and journalist with an international reputation for her work on European and international political affairs.

She has written extensively on topics including EU foreign policy, enlargement, EU democratic and institutional developments, and Turkish politics. Kirsty Hughes has held posts in various leading think-tanks, including Director of the European Programme at Chatham House, UK (1995-1998), and Senior Fellow at the Centre for European Policy Studies, Brussels (2001-2003). From 1999 to 2001, she worked at senior level in the European Commission.

# ABOUT FRIENDS OF EUROPE – LES AMIS DE L'EUROPE

*Friends of Europe* is Brussels' liveliest think-tank, aiming to stimulate new thinking on the future of Europe. We are non-profit, completely independent, and have no national or party political bias. Our membership base is as youthful as it is influential.

## Addressing key issues

Our goal since 1999 has been to foster open discussion and debate on the key issues facing the EU and the wider region.

Our portfolio of events and the reports that we publish mean that *Friends of Europe* makes a contribution to almost all EU-related issues. We concentrate in particular on six important areas: EU institutional reform; improving communication between the EU and its citizens; EU relations with its near neighbours; EU development policy; energy and the environment; and Europe's social and health challenges.

# An open forum for debate

*Friends of Europe* provides an open forum for debate among EU and national policymakers, NGOs, business leaders, the media and civil society.

Our activities offer ample opportunities for networking and discussion, and receive extensive media coverage. More than a traditional think-tank, *Friends of Europe* aims to stimulate debate beyond the Brussels elite by linking up with major think-tanks and media from across Europe's national capitals.

# Lively and informal

Our Café Crossfire evening and lunch debates, Policy Spotlight debates, European Policy Summit conferences and Policymakers' Dinner and Lunch Debates, held at the Bibliothèque Solvay in the heart of Brussels, are often adversarial as well as lively and informal. As of 2008, *Friends of Europe* has introduced roundtable debates as one of its regular formats. These include the Development Policy Forum (DPF), which brings together key senior stakeholders to chart the future course of EU-level aid and development policies.

*Friends of Europe* also makes use of modern technology for its satellitelinked debates: in 2003, a week-long debate on European reform entitled "Hearing from Europe" brought together partner think-tanks from 28 European countries, and paved the way for the later Atlantic Rendez-Vous series of debates between Brussels and Washington D.C.

## Publications

*Friends of Europe*'s publications are written in a readable manner by specialised journalists or Trustees, setting out the issues so that a non-specialist can understand what is at stake. Publications are widely disseminated to interested parties.

*Friends of Europe* is proud to be a co-initiator of *Europe's World*. Published three times a year, it is the only pan-European publication that offers policymakers and opinion-formers across Europe a platform for presenting ideas and forging consensus on key issues.

For more information: <u>www.friendsofeurope.org</u>

# Shaping Lisbon's Legacy: The EU's very discreet debate on who will make foreign policy

Kirsty Hughes<sup>1</sup>

#### Introduction

While the ratification of the Lisbon Treaty continues across the European Union, debates and discussions behind closed doors are intensifying in Brussels on how the EU will in future organise and present itself across the full range of external affairs issues – from foreign and security policy to trade and development. It is a vital debate for the EU's future role in the world.

The Lisbon Treaty creates two new top posts – a permanent president of the European Council and a 'double-hatted' high representative of the Union for foreign affairs and security policy who will also be a vice-president of the European Commission. These two posts, along with the president of the European Commission, will constitute the EU's main three faces to the world, and all three of them will have a role in the EU's external affairs. The rotating presidency, though still in existence, will no longer – or so it is intended – contribute to the EU's external representation.

The EU's new high representative will preside over a European diplomatic service – the European External Action Service (EEAS) and be responsible for the Union's delegations to third countries and international organisations. The future structure and scope of the EEAS are already being discussed and, in many cases, hotly contested in high-level formal and informal discussions. Any areas, such as defence, that may end up outside the EEAS will nonetheless, as provided for in the treaty, also be under the authority of the high representative. He or she will also preside over the foreign affairs council, and at the same time will have responsibility for the Commission's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> I am grateful to a number of politicians, diplomats and officials in the EU institutions and member states for sharing their views with me on these issues.

external relations and for coordinating other aspects of the EU's external action. It's a vast job.

Although the Lisbon Treaty defines the broad responsibilities of the three top EU jobs – the Commission and Council presidents and the high representative – ambiguities remain with considerable potential for overlap and duplication. The mid-year European Council summit is expected to have an informal – possibly dinner – discussion of the scope of these three jobs (with German Chancellor Angela Merkel said to have proposed the leaders discuss five or six main questions on this).

The overall intention of these new posts and structures is to increase the coherence, clarity and clout of the EU in its global activities, combined with the new set of principles and goals for the EU's international actions set out in the Lisbon Treaty. Given the range of EU external activities from trade, development, environment and enlargement to foreign and security policy, the EU has the potential to increase substantially its 'soft power' impact in the world, if it gets this right.

But there is a risk that these broader dimensions of the EU's interests and goals in its external activities are lost sight of in the discussions currently under way. Firstly, the – for now – highly restricted, closed-door discussions about these three jobs and the EEAS risk becoming a power battle or turf-fight, not only between Commission and Council secretariats but also between these two institutions and the member states. Secondly, the resulting structures and division of responsibilities, depending how they are drawn, may create new dividing lines and in some areas less not more coherence.

This paper analyses some of the main discussions and range of views currently being explored in the on-going high-level meetings that are considering these issues. It draws on a set of off-the-record interviews with a number of people close to, or actually engaged in, these discussions. The aim is to throw some light on these discussions and encourage a broader debate while options are still genuinely open. The paper first considers the processes that are under way and the likely timing of future debate and decision. It then looks at some of the issues concerning the top three jobs before considering in more detail a range of issues thrown up by the process of designing the future EEAS.

#### 1. Processes, Timing and Players

The Lisbon Treaty (in declaration 15) allows for preparatory work to be undertaken – after its signature and before its ratification – on the EEAS, by the Council, Commission, current high representative and the member states. More broadly, implementation issues across the board do need to be, and are being, considered if the Lisbon Treaty is to come into effect on 1 January 2009.

But although preparatory work is both necessary and foreseen, the perceived sensitivity of ratification in a number of member states is one of the main reasons much of the on-going discussions are being held in restricted, closed-door and high-level deliberations.

The European Parliament is also involved in these discussions not least since the Lisbon Treaty states that the EEAS will be established by a Council decision "on a proposal from the High Representative after consulting the European Parliament and after obtaining the consent of the Commission".

Timing here is very tricky since the proposal for how to organise the new EEAS comes from the new double-hatted high representative, who won't be in post until 1 January 2009 – and whose identity will only be agreed shortly before that.

Because of this, those involved in preparations doubt that a legal base to establish the EEAS could be in place before mid-2009. But the French presidency of the EU, in the second half of 2008, is understood to want to have the main details and design of the new service agreed by December 2008. Moreover, the new high representative from 1 January 2009 will need services and support from Commission and Council, even if on a rather adhoc basis. That also requires a number of decisions to be taken in principle during the autumn.

Formal discussions on implementation of the Lisbon Treaty – both internal and external dimensions – are taking place, on a regular basis, in Coreper with the EU 27 permanent representatives. On April 8, Commission president Jose Manuel Barroso had an informal dinner with the permanent representatives to discus his views "on institutional issues and external relations – in particular, the roles of the president of the European Council and rotating presidencies, the High Representative/Vice-President, and the European External Action Service."<sup>2</sup> A week later, Javier Solana addressed the permanent representatives on these broad issues.

Since then a number of short 'fiches' from both Commission and Council secretariat have been circulated to Coreper discussions. The Commission has also established a steering group to lead its work on these questions under Barroso's direction. The European Parliament is also contributing to discussions through its president Hans Pöttering and with him the EP's three representatives to the intergovernmental conference that preceded the treaty, i.e. Elmar Brok, Andrew Duff, and Klaus Haensch. For the Council secretariat, de Boisseu, the deputy secretary general is playing a central role.

It is anticipated that Barroso and Solana may present an informal 'vision' of external structures and issues to the June European Council. By late June, two European Parliament reports are also anticipated, one from Jean-Luc Dehaene on the responsibilities of the three top posts and one from Elmar Brok on the EEAS.

In his 8 April meeting with the permanent representatives, Barroso suggested a more detailed and in-depth proposal could be put forward in October. But any such proposal, however detailed, cannot be finally agreed until the new high representative is in post on 1 January 2009, which allows any disagreements potentially to be carried forward until then. It also means that there is no 'lead' coordinator for all these discussions. Solana himself might be the new high representative but until the new name is agreed, nothing can be finally and formally agreed. Even so, a new high representative is likely to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Unpublished speaking note of Jose Manuel Barroso, President of the European Commission to informal dinner with the Permanent Representatives of the Member States, 8 April 2008.

find many of the key decisions in essence already taken before his or her arrival.

Although discussions are proceeding rather rapidly, many member states are said to have relatively undefined or even vague positions so far on these debates. But while some member states and EU officials appear to want the new EEAS to start small and compact in a gradualist approach, others worry that if the EEAS is not established with its final scope and powers clearly defined now, then it will not be possible to develop them later. The fact that the Commission is coming to the end of its mandate is seen by some as an opportunity to avoid some defensive turf-fighting from external action Commissioners fighting to keep their areas outside of the EEAS, an opportunity that will go once the new Commission is in place in November 2009.

Many also argue that the relative responsibilities and roles of the three top jobs will inevitably be affected by who is chosen for those positions – personalities and not only process will be decisive. The French presidency will certainly coordinate discussions and attempt to broker a deal on the three jobs during the autumn.

#### 2. Choosing the EU's Three New Faces – and Their Roles

#### New Faces

Who will be the three new faces of Europe has already excited much discussion, both media and political, across the EU as member states and others start to manoeuvre over the positions.

There is, though, a sequencing problem here. Under the Lisbon Treaty, the new president of the European Council and the new high representative should be in post on 1 January 2009 – and so are likely to be agreed at the December 2008 summit. But the new Commission president cannot be formally agreed until after the European Parliament elections in June 2009, not least since the EP will have to vote for the appointee chosen by the European Council.

Nonetheless, it is anticipated that at least implicit deals will have to be struck during the autumn taking all three posts into account, and quite possibly taking other posts into account – both the forthcoming presidencies of the European Parliament, and even the new NATO secretary general, coming up in summer 2009.

Balances will, as ever, have to be struck in these appointments – between larger and smaller member states, new and old, north and south and east, and – a criteria mostly ignored in the past but now at least mentioned – gender. Given that the EP elections in 2009 are foreseen by some to produce a conservative majority, the argument is already heard that both of the two president positions should reflect this, which would suggest a socialist/social democrat for the high representative position. But there is as yet little agreement on names, even if Barroso is seen as fairly likely to be reappointed Commission president, though others mention his name (for mixed reasons) as a possible European Council president.

The high representative will, in the first instance, only be a 10-month appointment since he or she will also be a vice-president of the Commission

- to be approved, as a group with the other commissioners, by the EP to take up posts in November 2009. Some are suggesting that this 10-month appointment might be given to Javier Solana to ensure continuity in the short run, and allow a new face to be chosen along with the new Commission in the autumn of 2009. Others suggest that a new face from the start, with that face being the person intended to be reappointed for a full term, would make greater impact and more sense.

#### Coherent or Competing Roles?

The two new jobs, in the 'top three' trio, evolved from different proposals at different times before they both came together in the constitutional and then the Lisbon treaties. This in part explains the lack of clarity in their respective roles and the different emphases put on their roles by differing voices in Commission, Council, EP and member states. The political debate on the content and boundaries of these jobs is consequently well under way.

Each of the three's role is referenced at various points in the treaty. The Commission president's role in external affairs is as follows<sup>3</sup>: "With the exception of the common foreign and security policy... [the Commission] shall ensure the Union's external representation." Meanwhile, the new European Council president, as well as chairing, preparing and following up the European Council meetings – in cooperation with the Commission president – has a role under a CFSP heading to "ensure the external representation of the Union on issues concerning its common foreign and security policy, without prejudice to the powers of the High Representative of the Union for Foreign Affairs and Security Policy".

Meanwhile, the high representative "shall conduct the Union's common foreign and security policy [...] contribute by his proposals to the development of that policy [...] The same shall apply to the common security and defence policy".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All Lisbon Treaty quotes taken from "Consolidated versions of the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union" <u>Official Journal of the European Union</u> C115 vol. 51, 9 May 2008.

While operating as a vice-president of the Commission, the high representative will also "ensure the consistency of the Union's external action [...] be responsible [...] in external relations and for coordinating other aspects of the Union's external action."

However – even without going through all the relevant treaty articles – overlaps and inconsistencies soon appear. So "consistency" in the Union's external action will also be ensured by "the Council and Commission, assisted by the High Representative". Meanwhile, under more specific CFSP headings, "the Council and the High Representative [...] shall ensure the unity, consistency and effectiveness of action by the Union".

So the high representative may run into considerable competition with the two presidents. Within the Commission, for example, it is unclear exactly how the new high representative may coordinate the work of fellow external action commissioners as mandated by the treaty. There is at present a group of external action commissioners – including trade, development, enlargement, and external relations – chaired by president Barroso. Some argue the new high representative should chair this in future, though it is anyway a group with no formal powers, but others are arguing for Barroso to continue to chair it to underline his role in representing the Commission across the board on external action issues – including in areas such as environment that have both internal and external dimensions.

Some in the Council are looking for the new European Council president to play a major role in CFSP while others are resisting this. There are concerns, for example, that just as the current Council high representative and external relations commissioner are united in one role, the new high representative runs into similar turf fights as before but this time with the European Council president, or Commission president or indeed with other commissioners. Others, especially those who originally opposed the creation of a permanent president to replace the rotating presidency still want to limit the powers of the new president in particular to avoid either intergovernmentalism and/or the powers of the larger member states being over-represented in this new post. These concerns exist both among some member states and in the European Parliament. Some worry that the European Parliament may oppose any agreement reached on the EEAS that is not close enough to its preferences, even though it is only to be consulted rather than having formal powers, according to the Lisbon Treaty. However, the EP could cause problems if it felt it was being ignored through its budgetary powers.

A fourth player comes into this power battle as well – the rotating presidency (consisting, as now, of six-monthly terms per member state, with three presidencies at any one time forming an 18-month team presidency). The current general affairs and external relations council is split into two under the Lisbon Treaty – a foreign affairs council (FAC) and a general affairs council (GAC). The FAC will be chaired by the new high representative, the GAC by the rotating presidency. What areas will come under each council formation and who will chair the associated working groups is a highly controversial issue already under discussion (and is considered further in section 4 below). It is clear, though, that through chairing the GAC, the rotating presidency will also impact on the powers of the new president – and on associated coordination issues across the three top jobs and rotating presidency, that will need dealing with.

One of the potential results of this multi-level turf-fighting is that the European Council President could end up with a relatively limited job description – preparing and chairing European summits, following them up with the other players, and chairing bilateral summits with third countries. Meanwhile, the new high representative, whatever the outcome of the turf-fights appears to have a vast job. He or she will be meant to chair the FAC every month, attend Commission meetings every week, lead – in theory – up to 130 political dialogues with third countries every year, run the EEAS and the Union delegations, as well as playing the top level diplomacy role that Solana has done in his position to date.

Some suggest the high representative will need several deputies – though officials are keen to avoid the precise word since it is not in the treaty. Others worry about the lack of role for the prime minister and foreign minister of the rotating presidency, something which is seriously worrying several

member states. Linking these points, some speculate that the rotating country foreign minister could be one of several high representative 'deputies'. However, this is problematic as it would entirely undermine the aim and spirit of the Lisbon Treaty to give the EU consistency and continuity on the world stage.

Another possibility is for 'special envoys' to be appointed on an ad hoc basis to deputise for the high representative, and/or for other external action commissioners to stand in, and/or for senior officials from the EEAS to do so. None of these are ideal solutions and third countries even today often complain if lower level representation is sent to EU-third country meetings. Moreover, none of the possible 'deputies' to the high representative will be double-hatted and officially able to cover both Commission and Council areas. No clear answers to this set of problems appears forthcoming so far.

The relations between the roles of the three top jobs will also be influenced strongly by the decisions taken on the scope and structure of the EEAS, which this paper now considers.

# 3. The European External Action Service (EEAS)

There is much nervousness and a wide range of views to be found already in the debates on the EEAS. Both in Council and Commission, many are worried at losing control of activities they currently run, and of the new EEAS either ending up too intergovernmental and close to the Council or too *communautaire* and close to the Commission. Member states have differing views on this intergovernmental/transeuropean issue and many are also worried as to how much input into the EEAS they will have and who will really influence its work.

Meanwhile, the European Parliament is also looking closely at the scrutiny and accountability powers it will have over the new service and over the new high representative and over the Union delegations (and worrying that it has no powers over the new European Council president). Others, who want the EEAS and high representative to fulfil the ambitions of building real clout and coherence in Europe's external policies in the world, worry already that the argument for a broad EEAS is being lost.

The Lisbon Treaty is of limited help in sorting out these issues. Its comments on the EEAS are brief although they do specify that the new service will include Council and Commission staff, and "staff seconded from the national diplomatic services of the Member States." Moreover, even though the Treaty does make clear that there will be Union delegations in third countries that come under the authority of the high representative, it is not specified that the Union delegations sit within the EEAS, though the presumption is that they will.

In 2005, when preparatory work was then going on for an EEAS under the constitutional treaty, a joint Barroso-Solana paper was published setting out key issues for the future service<sup>4</sup>. The Commission is tending to promote the view that this paper is the main basis for the current discussions but in the Council secretariat, and some member states, the document is seen as one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Joint Progress Report to the European Council by the Secretary-General/High Representative and the Commission, June 9, 2005.

contributory paper, which was never discussed at political level before the twin French and Dutch 'nos' ended that work.

While the final outline, scope and nature of the EEAS is some way from agreement, certain lines of agreement as well as areas of disagreement are becoming clear.

Two key words describing the nature of the EEAS are said to be 'sui generis' and 'proximity'. These mean that the EEAS will be a separate service sitting between the Council and Commission secretariats, rather than being in one or the other, but that there will, or should be, close links from the EEAS to both Council and Commission. The intention is not to create a separate institution in the EEAS which could compound rather than help coherency issues in external policy. However, some think that it is inevitable that the EEAS will be a 'quasi-autonomous' institution.

Many ongoing discussions remain which will impact on how the service develops and its relative autonomy. Will the Commission provide all administrative and personnel support services for the EEAS, or will the Council contribute? Will the high representative have an office in the Commission's HQ – the Berlaymont – and in the Council building and which building will house the EEAS? Many consider that the high representative must have his or her own separate appointing authority for staff – to avoid cumbersome dual appointment procedures – but myriad issues of staffing remain.

In his discussion with the permanent representatives on 8 April, Barroso stated that the Commission will provide an office, cabinet staff and others tools plus a salary to the high representative in his vice-president role. However, he made it clear that these plans had not yet been coordinated with any plans the Council may be developing for support of the high representative.

#### Size and Scope of the EEAS

Size and scope of the EEAS are at the heart of many of the debates about its formation and role. These questions also link to its quasi-autonomous nature since the more distant it becomes from Council and Commission, the more some in those institutions will want to limit policy areas and staff they transfer to it.

Early in May, the Commission produced a fiche for coreper setting out the number of staff in all the external action activities of the Commission including not only external relations but all the delegations, and trade, development and enlargement. This totalled almost 5500. The Council secretariat identified 800 staff in its external relations directorates and the high representative's policy unit who could also potentially come under the EEAS umbrella. This was done not to suggest that the EEAS should have over 6000 staff but in part to encourage a more limited conception of the service by the member states.

A common and narrow view of the EEAS envisages uniting the current two external relations directorate-generals of the Commission and Council respectively, together with the staff currently in Javier Solana's policy unit, and with the current Commission delegations becoming Union delegations with some but not all of their staff in the EEAS<sup>5</sup>.

In his discussion with the permanent representatives on 8 April, Barroso took a rather narrow view of the scope of the EEAS – and one rather similar to that set out in the 2005 joint paper. He described his views however as "my first personal and informal thoughts on this" and a range of views exist within the Commission on the question of scope of the EEAS.

Nonetheless, Barroso is rather clear that he considers trade, development and enlargement to be outside of the EEAS and under the authority of other commissioners and not the high representative. There has also been some

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For an overview of the longer-run development of the EU's foreign policy structures see Antonio Missiroli "A tale of two pillars and an arch" in European Policy Centre working paper no 28 "The EU foreign service: how to build a more effective common policy" 2007.

discussion within the Commission of whether European neighbourhood policy should be taken out of its current position in DG External Relations and given to a separate commissioner again reducing the scope of the EEAS.

No overall common view across the different actors has yet been agreed on scope. However, there is an emerging consensus that the EEAS will house one set of geographical desks covering all regions of the world, and these desks will not be duplicated elsewhere in the Council or Commission. 'Horizontal' issues such as human rights, counter-terrorism (internationally) and relations with international bodies such as the UN would also be included. Another area of emerging agreement appears to be that the EEAS will also provide a service through the high representative to the two presidents of Commission and Council – both ensuring consistent analysis is received and stalling any tendency, especially by the new European Council president, to have his or her own foreign policy staff.

Even the emerging consensus on geographical desks raises a number of questions. Firstly, while it appears to be broadly agreed that DG Trade will be outside the service, a range of geographical analysis will also still occur in DG Trade, so not all duplication may be avoided. Secondly, while enlargement will probably remain outside the EEAS, what will happen with a country in negotiations like Turkey is unclear. Will there be a DG enlargement Turkey desk dealing with negotiations and a political desk in the EEAS? The same question arises or will arise for several Balkan countries. Furthermore, as far as neighbourhood policy is concerned, many consider it unreasonable to take it outside the EEAS – would the high representative deal with China but not Ukraine or Algeria for instance.

Development raises more difficult issues. In the current set up, the Commission's DG development deals in particular with Africa. If its geographical desks go to the EEAS, this suggests that some new coherence will indeed be achieved but then a question remains of what sort of horizontal policy role the remainder of DG Development may cover. Some in the Commission also argue that the political analysis part of the geographical desks should go to the EEAS but not the programming part which could be brought together with Aidco constructing a new DG Development (with

humanitarian aid in ECHO also staying outside). Yet if that happened, the new high representative would not be in control of the key funding flows so central to much of the EU's 'soft power' influence. Others in the Commission are apparently more open to envisaging a stronger shift of development areas into the EEAS.

There are other Commission directorate generals, such as environment, migration and energy, which will stay outside the EEAS but where questions still arise of how will the high representative coordinate with these services when there are international issues at stake – as there so clearly and frequently are. Some argue that the high representative and EEAS should at least contain a small group of experts under such headings, who are in a position to collaborate with the relevant directorate-generals and expert staff in other parts of the Commission and Council and so contribute to consistency and coherence. These same questions will arise for relations with trade, and the often debated issue of how the EU's foreign policy goals interacts with its trade policy.

A further set of unresolved questions concern political-military structures and the EU's growing role in crisis management and conflict prevention. There are substantial parts of both Council and Commission secretariats dealing with crisis management – including two directorates in the Council, two units in the Commission's DG Relex and other relevant staff in DG Dev. Many argue that the EEAS provides an opportunity to bring all these units together into a much more coherent whole. However, others argue that the military side of European security and defence policy (or common security and defence policy as it will become), including the Military Staff and Sitcen should stay outside of the service, though still under the authority of the high representative.

If that happens – and some big member states like France and the UK are said to favour such a split while others favour integration in the EEAS – then some others may argue, possibly including Germany, that the whole of civilian crisis management should go outside the EEAS, so that there is no civil-military split. Yet this would create more divisions between the EEAS. Moreover, this would not receive Commission support.

How these questions of scope are resolved will also impact on exactly how the new Union delegations in third countries will operate. Many changes will be needed to turn the existing 134 Commission delegations into Union delegations. Introducing CFSP staff into the delegations should raise their political scope and clout, while raising practical topics such as security ciphers and other issues not faced before by many delegations. Equally, there will be Commission staff in the Union delegations but not in the EEAS – environment or trade or aid project planners – and again coherence and effective communication not dividing lines will need to be ensured. While it may be expected that the heads of delegations – at ambassadorial level – will be in the EEAS, this may get awkward in some multilateral organisations such as Geneva where the main focus is on trade.

Member states are apparently resisting any suggestion that the EP would have staff in the Union delegations though they could provide MEPs with some services when visiting a third country. The idea floated by some that the EP may want to hold hearings for ambassadorial appointments, as in the US, produces a strong negative reaction in some member states. A further question is whether the head of the Union delegation will chair coordination meetings of the member state ambassadors in third countries – currently chaired by the rotating presidency – to reflect the fact that the high representative chairs the foreign affairs council.

#### Staffing

The size of the EEAS will depend on the final decisions made on scope. Yet already member states have been hotly discussing the question of how many of their diplomats will get positions in the new service. Indeed, some member states have started to identify staff who could be moved into the EEAS as their national 'quota'.

Any quotas are though being resisted not only by Commission and Council but also by larger member states such as France and the UK who argue appointments must be on merit while bearing in mind geographical balance. Some member states are concerned that the EEAS could be dominated by Council and Commission staff – both in numbers and if these two groups of staff are permanent while member state diplomats are on secondment. Germany is said to be among those arguing strongly that all staff must rotate in and out of the EEAS and that numbers should be equal – one third each to Commission, Council and member states. At the same time, most member states including Germany appear to want the new service to be close to budget neutral.

Both Commission and Council are apparently making the argument to the member states that the inclusion of member states' diplomats will have to occur gradually over time, as staff turnover occurs in the relevant services that constitute the new EEAS and in the Union delegations. Moreover, merit will be vital, since posts arising, especially abroad will have specific language and diplomatic and other skills and requirements which will have to be matched by the new staff sent out.

A related discussion is also under way on the status of the EEAS staff. Many member states want staff all to be on an equal footing as *agents temporaires* – rather than only having member state diplomats seconded as national experts. However, the former case means that the EU budget will pay, which undermines budget neutrality. Nor can Commission and Council staff be forced or expected to forego their current contract status and conditions. Even if these staff were seconded to the EEAS from their home base, the conditions under which this could be done are complex. Staff trade unions are one more actor getting involved here.

Nor would it be easy to rotate such staff back again if that was the aim – if for example they come from DG Relex in the Commission or Solana's policy unit in the Council, they will have nowhere to go back to once these are merged into the EEAS. Nor will it strengthen the EEAS if all its staff have such limited time in the service. Loyalty questions will arise too, if EEAS staff are looking back to where they came from for career prospects. These questions are yet to be resolved and member states will not easily accept a situation where they have only a small stake in terms of staff in the EEAS. Meanwhile, some other voices quietly worry that member states – if they are not fully committed to the EEAS – may not send their best diplomats to the service.

## 4. The New Foreign Affairs and General Affairs Councils

The Lisbon Treaty splits the current general affairs and external relations council (GAERC) into two – the foreign affairs council (FAC) and the general affairs council (GAC). The FAC will be chaired by the high representative, the GAC by the rotating presidency. The treaty also specifies that the top two diplomatic committees – coreper and the political and security committee (PSC) – will be chaired by the rotating presentative for PSC.

That much is clear but beyond these designations much is unclear and deep debates, reflecting considerable disagreement, are under way. At present, all council formations are chaired by the rotating presidency and a commissioner attends to represent the Commission. However, if the high representative chairs the FAC, should a commissioner also attend? The member states say 'no' and the Commission says 'yes'.

If foreign affairs is dealing with most external dossiers, another question is what sort of ministers chair and attend the GAC? Some suggest this will be senior ministers but not foreign ministers. One idea is that the rotating presidency prime minister could chair it (given his or her lack of a role) but since the other ministers in attendance would not be prime ministers, this may be unlikely. Since the GAC will prepare summits, the new European Council president will want one of his representatives there too.

Various different balances are being pushed for here. Some member states want to make sure the GAC is at least as important as the FAC. Others want to ensure the GAC is strengthened as a way to limit the powers of the new European Council president while others, in contrast, want a strong GAC to underpin the powers of the new president, and ensure the new high representative chairing the FAC is not too powerful.

Which policy areas report to the FAC and which to the GAC – and so their relative power and roles – may be determined in part by how broad or narrow

the scope of the EEAS turns out to be. There are dozens of working groups that prepare the meetings of the council formations and that are normally chaired by the rotating presidency. The Lisbon treaty attempts to be clear here: "The chair of the preparatory bodies of the various Council configurations, with the exception of the Foreign Affairs configuration, shall fall to the member of the group chairing the relevant configuration (unless decided otherwise in accordance with article 4)."

This would appear to mean that any dossier that goes to the FAC will be prepared in a working group chaired by a representative of the high representative, probably an official from the EEAS. But debates are ongoing here. There are different views, for example, as to whether trade, even though outside of the EEAS, will report to the FAC or the GAC. Likewise enlargement, as a membership negotiating process, is mostly dealing with community or 'pillar one' issues and so might go to the GAC, but formally negotiations are carried out in an intergovernmental conference which makes it within the purview of foreign ministers. Equally even if DG enlargement did report to the GAC on Turkey, for example, a political crisis concerning Turkey would surely go to the FAC.

Officials are currently going through the lists of working groups attempting to reach preliminary agreement on who chairs what – not least by an oldstyle effort of dividing the groups into 'pillar one' (community competence and so GAC) and 'pillar two' (and so intergovernmental and FAC) issues, despite the fact that the double-hatted new high representative is meant to overcome this old pillar division.

This debate is being yet further complicated by an argument, apparently coming from Germany among others, that member states should appoint people who would chair the FAC working groups, and these individuals would then be appointed to senior positions in the EEAS and so fit within the new rules on FAC in the Lisbon Treaty. Underpinning much of this debate is a concern among the member states that they are losing too much control and management of policy development under the new Lisbon Treaty structures that they have signed up to.

Under the rotating presidency, the prime minister of that country was responsible for coordinating across council formations and chairing the European summits during the presidency. Much more coordination will now be needed between the rotating presidency, the high representative, and the two presidents of Council and Commission in order to prepare summits. The chain of command through to the smooth preparation of European leaders' summits looks, as a result, much more tricky.

## Conclusion

The incoherence and overlaps in the EU's external policy structures and processes and the turnover in those representing the EU on the world stage has been discussed for many years. The innovations of the Lisbon Treaty, both in structures and in the new top EU jobs, aim to cut through those problems and create more coherence, and better visibility and clarity on the world stage, and so build more clout for the EU's external policies and role in the world.

As this paper has shown, building the structures and processes to support that high level strategic goal is both complicated and controversial. A wider and more public external debate on the multiple issues involved could contribute to greater clarity. It may help to remind those closely involved in these discussions and in this work, firstly, that the top level goals are strategic ones – and that these should guide the process – and secondly, that many of the detailed issues at the end of the day concern administrative structures and should not be fought over as if they are issues of major policy substance.

# FRIENDS OF EUROPE'S BOARD OF TRUSTEES

## President

Viscount Etienne Davignon is Vice President of Suez-Tractebel. He is a former Vice President of the European Commission.

# Praesidium

Pat Cox was President of the European Parliament between 2002 and 2004. Before starting his political career, he worked as a journalist for Irish television. He is a senior counsellor for APCO and Managing Director of European Integration Solutions.

Jean-Luc Dehaene was Belgium's Prime Minister from 1992 to 1999. He served as the Vice President of the Convention on the Future of Europe. He is Vice Chairman of the European Parliament's Delegation for relations with the People's Republic of China.

Baron Daniel Janssen is the former Chairman of the Board of Directors of Solvay and a member of the Steering Committee of the Trilateral Commission.

Pascal Lamy is Director General of the World Trade Organization and is former European Commissioner for Trade. Guy Verhofstadt was Belgium's Prime Minister from 1999 to 2008. He is a former Belgian Senator, where he served as rapporteur for the Senate's commission on the Rwandan genocide.

António Vitorino was European Commissioner for Justice and Home Affairs. He is a former Portuguese Minister for Defence.

# Trustees

Edmond Alphandéry is President of the Supervisory Board of CNP Assurances. He was France's Minister of the Economy from 1993 to 1995.

Giuliano Amato is a former Italian Interior Minister. He was Italy's Prime Minister from 1994 to 1996. From 2000 to 2001 he served as Vice President of the Convention on the Future of Europe.

Enrique Barón Crespo is a member of the Committee on Constitutional Affairs in the European Parliament. He was President of the Parliament from 1989 to 1992.

Michel Barnier is France's Minister for Agriculture. He was previously France's Foreign Affairs Minister and European Commissioner for Regional Policy and Institutional Reform.

Carl Bildt is the Swedish Minister for Foreign Affairs. He was the UN Secretary General's Special Representative for the Balkans between 1999 and 2001. He was Sweden's Prime Minister from 1991 to 1994.

Joachim Bitterlich is Executive Vice President of Veolia Environnement in Paris. He was formerly Foreign and Security Policy Advisor to Federal Chancellor Helmut Kohl and German Ambassador to NATO and then Spain.

Jean-Louis Bourlanges was a Member of the Committee on Transport and Tourism in the European Parliament.

Laurens Jan Brinkhorst is the former Dutch Deputy Prime Minister and Minister for Economic Affairs. He was also an MEP.

Elmar Brok is a member of the European Parliament's Foreign Affairs Committee and was the Parliament's representative at the Intergovernmental Conference for the EU Constitutional Treaty in 2003/04.

John Bruton is Head of the European Commission Delegation in Washington D.C. He was Prime Minister of Ireland's Rainbow Coalition government between 1994 and 1997. Günter Burghardt was Head of the European Commission Delegation to Washington D.C.

Henning Christophersen is a former Vice President of the European Commission and was also Denmark's Minister for Foreign Affairs.

Robert Cox is a former Senior Advisor to the European Community's Humanitarian Office (ECHO). His previous appointments have included that of Commission Representative to Turkey.

Baron Philippe de Schoutheete was for many years Belgium's Permanent Representative to the EU.

Yves-Thibault de Silguy is Chairman of the Board of Vinci. He is a former European Commissioner for Economic and Monetary Affairs.

Anna Diamantopoulou is a Member of the Greek Parliament and a former EU Commissioner for Employment and Social Affairs.

Uffe Ellemann-Jensen is a former Danish Minister for Foreign Affairs and is Chairman of the Baltic Development Forum.

Franz Fischler was formerly European Commissioner for Agriculture and Fisheries and Austrian Minister for Agriculture and Forestry. Monica Frassoni is Co-President of the Greens/European Free Alliance group in the European Parliament.

Catherine Gernay is the Managing Director of CEN-SCK (Centre d'études sur le Nucléaire).

Elisabeth Guigou is Vice-President of the French National Assembly's Delegation to the EU. She is a former Minister for EU Affairs.

Toomas Hendrik Ilves is President of the Republic of Estonia. He was formerly Foreign Minister of Estonia.

Sandra Kalniete was formerly Latvia's Minister of Foreign Affairs and European Commissioner in charge of Agriculture and Fisheries.

Wim Kok was the Netherlands' Prime Minister from 1994 to 2002. In 2004, he chaired the High-Level Working Group on the Lisbon Strategy.

Horst Günter Krenzler was Director General for External Relations of the European Commission.

Vytautas Landsbergis is a Member of the Foreign Affairs Committee in the European Parliament. He is a former President of Lithuania.

Spiro Latsis is President of EFG Eurobank.

Erkki Liikanen is the Governor of the Bank of Finland. He was European Commissioner for Enterprise and Information Society from 1999 to 2004.

Robert Manchin is Chairman and Managing Director of Gallup Europe.

Peter Mandelson is the European Commissioner for Trade.

Erika Mann is Chairwoman of the European Parliament's Delegation to the EU-Mexico Joint Parliamentary Committee. She is also Chairwoman of the Transatlantic Policy Network (TPN).

Stefano Micossi is Director General of ASSONIME, and was formerly Director General for Industry in the European Commission.

John Monks is Secretary General of the European Trade Union Confederation.

Mario Monti was European Commissioner for Competition from 1999 to 2004. He is President of the Università Bocconi and Chairman of the Board of the Brussels European and Global Economic Laboratory (BRUEGEL).

Riccardo Perissich was formerly Director General for Industry in the European Commission.

Alojz Peterle is a Member of the Foreign Affairs Committee in the European Parliament. He is a former Prime Minister of Slovenia. Paul Révay is the European Director of The Trilateral Commission.

Keith Richardson was Secretary General of the European Roundtable of Industrialists.

Michel Rocard is a former Prime Minister of France. He is a member of the Foreign Affairs Committee of the European Parliament.

Jacek Saryusz-Wolski is Chairman of the European Parliament's Foreign Affairs Committee. He is a former Polish Minister for European Affairs.

Javier Solana is the EU's High Representative for the Common Foreign and Security Policy. He was previously Secretary General of NATO and before that Spain's Minister for Foreign Affairs.

Dirk Sterckx is Chairman of the European Parliament's Delegation for relations with the People's Republic of China. He is a former TV news anchorman.

Frans Van Daele is Permanent Representative of Belgium to NATO. He previously served as Belgium's Ambassador to the United States.

Karel Van Miert is a former Vice President of the European Commission for Competition.

# Secretary General

Giles Merritt is a former Brussels correspondent of the *Financial Times* and has for 20 years been a European affairs columnist for the *International Herald Tribune.* He is also the editor of Europe's World.

His deputy, and co-founder of *Friends* of *Europe*, is Geert Cami.



Friends of Europe thanks its VIP partners (Visibility – Input – Platform)



**European Active Citizenship** 

Support for bodies active at European Level in the field of active European Citizenship